FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 4/18/2019 3:04 PM

No. 97101-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TERENCE BUTLER,

Petitioner,

VS.

RANDALL T. THOMSEN, Individually and on Behalf of the Marital Community Comprised of RANDALL THOMSEN and JANE DOE THOMSEN, and CALFO HARRIGAN LEYH & EAKES, LLP, a Washington Professional Limited Liability Partnership, f/k/a DANIELSON HARRIGAN LEYH & TOLLEFSON, LLP,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM COURT OF APPEALS CASE NO. 76536-1-I

Brian J. Waid WSBA No. 26038 WAID LAW OFFICE, PLLC 5400 California Ave. S. W., Ste D Seattle, Washington 98136 Telephone: 206-388-1926 Counsel for Petitioner Terence Butler

I. Introduction

The Petition of Terry Butler poses two legal issues critical to protection of clients victimized by the legal malpractice of their attorneys:

(1) Would a manifest injustice occur, thus preventing application of collateral estoppel, if Washington courts allow negligent attorneys to enforce in a follow-on legal malpractice case, an erroneous legal decision by an underlying ("first-in-time") court, when the attorney's malpractice created the risk of such an erroneous decision? (2) Do Washington trial courts err by granting summary judgment establishing an attorney's breach of the standard of care when no dispute exists relative to the attorney's conduct but an "expert" nevertheless opines that those undisputed facts do not constitute a breach of the standard of care?

II. Identity of Petitioner

Petitioner Terence ("Terry") Butler filed this legal malpractice lawsuit against his former attorneys, Randall Thomsen and the Calfo Harrigan law firm (jointly referred to as "Calfo Harrigan").

III. Decisions Below

In its first appeal, Division I affirmed denial of Calfo Harrigan's motion to compel arbitration. App. 42. On remand, both sides filed motions for partial summary judgment (on different issues) which the trial court considered together. App. 23, 28. The trial court granted Butler's

motion for partial summary judgment, holding (in pertinent part) that

Thomsen had breached the standard of care as a matter of law, and; denied

Calfo Harrigan's motion for partial summary judgment on collateral

estoppel and proximate cause. *Id.* Division I granted Calfo Harrigan's

motion for discretionary review and this Court denied Butler's motion for

discretionary review of that decision. Case no. 94939-5.

In an unpublished decision, Division I held that collateral estoppel bars Butler from re-litigating in this legal malpractice lawsuit the Wage Act and derivative claims that had been dismissed in *Butler v*.

ImageSource [App. 52], because "Butler had sufficient opportunity to bring the LaCoursiere decision to the attention of the trial court, to seek discretionary review in light of the LaCoursiere decision, or to proceed with the litigation and file an appeal subsequent to final judgment on all claims." App. 010. The lower court expressed concern that "Butler's decision to settle his claim against his former co-owners and shift his litigation efforts to a lawsuit against his former lawyer. . .appears¹ to be the result of a tactical decision, rather than borne of an inability to see the Butler litigation through to fruition." App. 9 n. 5. The Court of Appeals thus reasoned that Butler "had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the

¹ Petitioner respectfully objects to the Court of Appeals' reliance on *appearances*, rather than evidence, when ruling on summary judgment issues.

issue of *LaCoursiere* 's applicability" [App. 11 n. 10] and "cannot now use his decision not to [seek discretionary review or appeal to] obtain a second bite at the litigation apple." App. 010 n. 6.

Based on that reasoning, the Court of Appeals held that no manifest injustice would occur if collateral estoppel bars Butler from relitigating in this case the Wage Act and derivative claim decisions by the trial court in *Butler v. ImageSource*, even though Thomsen's error relative to the *White* Release had created the very risk that the court in *Butler v. ImageSource* relied upon to dismiss those claims.

The Court of Appeals further held that Mr. Thomsen's failure to notice significant changes in the *White* Release from the parties' CR 2A Agreement, which the trial court in *Butlerv. ImageSource* had relied upon when it dismissed most of Butler's claims in *Butler v. ImageSource* [App. 53] and which the trial court in this case concluded had breached the standard of care as a matter of law [App. 26, 35], "can hardly be considered within the common knowledge of laypersons" and thus required expert testimony. App. 015. The Court of Appeals thus overturned the trial court determination that Thomsen had breached the standard of care as a matter of law.

IV. Issues Presented for Review

1. Would a manifest injustice occur if Washington courts

allow negligent attorneys to enforce an erroneous legal decision against the attorney's client in an underlying ("first-in-time") court, when the attorney's malpractice created the risk of such an erroneous decision?

2. Were the defendant attorney's errors within the common knowledge of a layperson and, if so, may a Washington trial court disregard an "expert" opinion on the ultimate issue of whether the attorney breached the standard of care?

V. The Petition Warrants Review Under RAP 13.4(b)

The Court should grant review of whether collateral estoppel should bar a client victimized by legal malpractice from re-litigating issues decided against the client in first-in-time litigation pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b)(1) because the lower court opinion conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Barr v. Day* and *City of Seattle v. Blume* [pp. 12-15, *infra*]; pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the lower court opinion conflicts with published appellate decisions in *Flint v. Hart, Mastro v. Kumakichi Corp.*, *Bullard v. Bailey*, and *Rabbage v. Lorella*. [pp. 14-18, *infra*], and; pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this issue arises routinely in legal malpractice litigation and this Court should decide this issue of Washington law in the first instance rather than defer to the 9th Circuit Court of Appeals to decide it in *Setterquist v. Billbe*, 9th Cir. Case no. 18-35880 [pp. 15-19, *infra*].

The Court should also grant review whether the lower court correctly overruled trial court determination that the defense expert's opinion on the ultimate issue of the breach of the standard of care did *not* create a genuine issue of material fact, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the the lower court opinion is inconsistent with this Court's decisions in *Walker v. Bangs, Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc.*, and *Volk v. DeMeerleer*, and; pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)4) this issue frequently arises in Washington legal malpractice cases, the lower court decision imposes a significant and unnecessary burden on victims of legal malpractice and the Washington trial courts, and this Court should decide this issue in the first instance rather than defer to the 9th Circuit in *Setterquist v. Billbe*.

VI. Statement of the Case

This Petition for Review arises out of summary judgment rulings. Two Division I opinions related to this case establish the relevant, undisputed facts, which petitioner adopts and summarizes next, except as otherwise noted. App. 001 (Case no. 74258-2-I, pp. 2-4) and App. 42 (Case no. 76536-1-I, pp. 2-5).²

² The opinion states that "Butler neither sought discretionary review of the rulings nor chose to litigate the case to final judgment and appeal the reverse rulings" [App. 004], and "Butler's counsel conceded that Butler had an opportunity to seek discretionary review in the *Butler* litigation but decided not to do so." App. 0009. Butler's counsel made no such concession. The audio recording of oral argument confirms that Butler's counsel told the Court the opposite, *i.e.*, Butler had, in fact, filed a notice of discretionary review. Audio recording of oral argument @ 13:30. The docket in Division I Case no.

Terence Butler was a founder of ImageSource and one of its four co-owners, along with Shadrach White, Victor Zvirzdys and Terry Sutherland. White sued ImageSource and its three other owners, *i.e.*, Butler, Zvirzdys, and Sutherland. On June 13, 2011, Butler, Zvirzdys, Sutherland and ImageSource retained Randall Thomsen and his law firm to jointly represent them in defense of the *White* lawsuit. Thomsen continued to jointly represent all four clients, including Butler, through and including execution of the *White* Release on or about January 2, 2013.

In June 2012, Thomsen negotiated the settlement of the *White* lawsuit, which counsel reduced to a CR 2A Agreement that provided, in pertinent part [App. 62]:

9. Mr. White agrees to release all defendants from any claims that he may possess against them. Defendants agree to release Mr. White from any claims that they may possess against him....

White's attorney, Stephanie Bloomfield, prepared the initial draft of the formal Release and Settlement Agreement, which she emailed to Thomsen on June 21, 2012. In contrast with the CR 2A Agreement, the Release provides in pertinent part [App. 64-70]:

⁷²⁴⁶⁰⁶⁻I, to which counsel referred the Court, also confirms that fact. Butler, however, agrees that he did not pursue discretionary review to conclusion. See n. 11, *infra*.

Parties³....This Agreement involves a resolution of the litigation commenced under Thurston County Cause No. 11-2 01309-7 (the "Lawsuit") <u>and related matters</u>.

Recitals...C. The Parties...<u>agreed to settle</u> fully and finally <u>all</u> <u>differences among them</u>..including, but not limited to, all allegations in the lawsuit and other issues.

forth herein, <u>the Parties</u> agree to release <u>one another</u>, their spouses, their respective heirs, agents, attorneys, employees, directors, heirs, assigns and personal representatives from any and all charges, claims, and actions, whether known or unknown, arising prior to the date of this Agreement and arising directly or indirectly out of the Lawsuit or their previous dealings. This release specially includes and releases all claims that were asserted or could have been asserted in the Lawsuit by White relating to ImageSource (including employment issues) and any claims or counterclaims that were asserted or could have been asserted by Defendants in the Lawsuit against White. . . [Emphasis added where underlined].

Thomsen did *not* notice the difference between CR 2A §9 and Release §10 and drew no distinction between the two. App. 72 (42:10-22, 44:24-46:13); App. 74 (50:13-52:12).⁴ Indeed, Thomsen conceded that the idea that the *White* Release might also release Butler's claims against

³ "The Parties" to the Settlement Agreement included Butler, Sutherland, Zvirzdys, White and ImageSource. App. 64

⁴ It is this obvious error by Thomsen that, in the opinion of Division I, requires expert testimony to establish a breach of the attorney's standard of care. Such reasoning imposes unnecessary expense and litigation burdens on clients victimized by attorney negligence and on trial courts if required to allow such reasoning to proceed to trial. It also fosters the public the perception that even obvious attorney errors are above the law. In that context, the theory of "judgmental immunity" or the "attorney judgment rule" do *not* apply in this case because Mr. Thomsen did not notice the changes and thus failed to exercise any judgment. See, *Clark Cty. Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C.*, 180 Wn. App. 689, 704, 324 P.3d 743 (2014).

Zvirzdys, Sutherland and ImageSource never crossed his mind between June 21, 2012 and January 2, 2013. App. 76 (82:23-83:14); App. 78 (208:21-209:19). He thus did *not* advise Mr. Butler (or his other jointly–represented clients) that, by signing the *White* Release, they would also release (or potentially release) all claims they might have against each other. App. 72 (42:23-44:5); App. 78 (206:6-209:19). The parties thus agree that no changes material to this dispute were made in the *White* Release, relative to identification of "the Parties," Recital C, or Release §10, between the initial draft on June 21, 2012 and the final version executed on January 2, 2013. App. 073-074 (47:4-50:12).

After settlement of the *White* lawsuit, Butler commenced a new lawsuit ("the *Butler* lawsuit") against Sutherland, Zvirzdys and ImageSource, which alleged financial misconduct and misappropriation of corporate funds, as well as claims for non-payment of compensation due him from ImageSource. In response to Butler's motion for summary judgment, the defendants, *i.e.*, Zvirzdys, Sutherland and ImageSource (through its receiver) asserted that §10 of the *White* Release had also released Butler's claims against them. The trial court in *Butler v. ImageSource* agreed with the defendants and held [App. 55]:

The <u>plain and unambiguous language of the release</u> contained in paragraph 10 of the above-mentioned Release and Settlement Agreement applies to all claims by and between the Parties thereto, arising out of their previous dealings. The

claims for relief asserted in the Motion arise from the dealings of the Parties pre-dating the January 2, 2013 date of the Release and Settlement Agreement. Those claims have therefore been released as a matter of law. [Citations omitted].

That trial court also concluded that Butler could not recover on his Wage Act claims in any event, reasoning that [App. 55 ¶E]:

Plaintiff's claims as asserted within the Motion are not "wages" within the meaning of RCW ch. 49.52 because they are not based upon a contract or implied contract for the regular payment by ImageSource, or a defined amount of money to plaintiff.⁵

However, two months *after* the trial court dismissed Butler's Wage Act claims in *Butler v. ImageSource*, this Court issued *Lacoursiere v. Camwest Development, Inc.*, 181 Wn. 2d 734, 339 P.3d 963 (2014).⁶
Butler thus maintained that collateral estoppel should not bar him from relitigating his Wage Act claims in this lawsuit because the trial court analysis of his Wage Act claims in *Butler v. ImageSource* was in direct conflict with this Court's later decision in *LaCoursiere* and application of collateral estoppel to his Wage Act claims in this case would thus result in a manifest injustice.

The trial court in Butler v. ImageSource similarly concluded that

⁵ Butler had introduced extensive documentation in the *Butler* lawsuit in support of his Wage Act claim. Division I declined to decide whether *LaCoursiere* would have required a different result on Butler's Wage Act claims. App. 011 n. 10.

⁶ Kalmanovitz v. Stander, 2015 WL 9273611 (W.D. Wash. 12/21/15)(Lasnik, J.) further elaborates on *LaCoursiere* and also supported Butler's assertion that the trial court in *Butler v. ImageSource* had reached a legally erroneous decision on his Wage Act claims.

Butler could not pursue derivative claims on behalf of ImageSource, because "Plaintiff Butler has shown no grounds upon which he has or should be granted standing to pursue claims for breach of fiduciary duty based on harm to ImageSource." App. 54-55 ¶C. However, the trial court in that case had overlooked the Division I decision in *Donlin v. Murphy*, 174 Wn. App. 288, 300 P.3d 424 (Div. I 2013). Butler thus maintained that collateral estoppel barring him from re-litigating his derivative claims on behalf of ImageSource would similarly result in a manifest injustice due to trial court legal error in the first-in-time litigation and thus preclude application of collateral estoppel.

On summary judgment, the trial court in this case held that

Thomsen owed Butler a duty of care relative to the *White* Release and that

Thomsen had breached that duty. App. 23, 28. The trial court also denied

Thomsen's motion for summary judgment on Thomsen's affirmative

defenses of collateral estoppel and causation. *Id*.

Thomsen sought discretionary review in Division I, and Butler sought cross-review. Division I granted review and reversed, holding that:

(1) collateral estoppel barred Butler from re-litigating the Wage Act and derivative claims dismissed in *Butler v. ImageSource* because Butler had settled that lawsuit when he should have continued to litigate those

issues through appeal, and; (2) Thomsen's mistake, in failing to notice the changes in the terms of the *White* Release from the terms of the CR 2A Agreement, was not within the common knowledge of a layperson.

Petitioner timely moved for rehearing and publication, which the Court of Appeals denied on March 20, 2019. App. 21, 22. Petitioner now seeks discretionary review by this Court of the Division I decision.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. Manifest Injustice Will Occur if Clients Victimized by Attorney Malpractice Cannot Make Reasonable Decisions to Resolve the Risks of Harm Created by the Malpractice, Based on Recommendations of Replacement Counsel Considering of the Risk, Expense, and Likelihood of Success of Continuing Litigation.

Butler concurs in the lower court conclusion that collateral estoppel does *not* preclude a party from re-litigating an issue if a decision in the first-in-time litigation would result in manifest injustice. App. 008.⁷

Petitioner further concurs with the lower court's implicit recognition that a manifest injustice will occur, and thus prevent application of collateral estoppel, if 'a new determination is warranted in

⁷ "Collateral estoppel is, in the end, an equitable doctrine that will not be applied mechanically to work an injustice." "[T]he party against whom the doctrine is asserted must have had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the first forum." Not only must there have been an opportunity to fully litigate, the party against whom the estoppel is asserted must have had "interests at stake that would call for a full litigational effort." Indeed. . . "for collateral estoppel to apply the party must have had 'sufficient motivation for a full and vigorous litigation of the issue." [Citations omitted].

order to take account of an intervening change in the applicable legal context or otherwise to avoid inequitable administration of the laws." *Estate of Hambleton*, 181 Wn.2d 802, 834-835, 335 P.3d 398 (2014), *quoting Restatement (Second) of Judgments* § 28(2)(b)(1982).

Accordingly, "[c]ollateral estoppel is only meant to apply in situation that 'have remained substantially static, factually and legally....[and] reflects the well-established principle that an "intervening change in the applicable legal context'...prohibits the application of collateral estoppel." *Dot Foods, Inc. v. State Dept. of Revenue,* 185 Wn.2d 239, 256, 372 P.3d 747 (2016).8

Barr v. Day, 124 Wn.2d 318, 326, 879 P.2d 912 (1994) thus held that collateral estoppel does *not* prevent a client from re-litigating the reasonableness of an attorney's fee that had been decided in the underlying matter because manifest injustice would occur if it were to prevent the client from re-litigating an issue that had been decided "based on attorney misfeasance or nonfeasance."

Why then should a different result occur when the attorney's

⁸ Quoting Comm'r v. Sunnen, 333 U.S. 591, 599, 68 S. Ct. 715, 92 L.Ed. 898 (1948); accord, Billings v. Town of Steilacoom, 2 Wn. App. 2d 1, 15, 408 P.3d 1123 (2017) ("only if the issue raised in the second case 'involves substantially the same bundle of legal principles that contributed to the rendering of the first judgment,' even if the facts and the issue are identical"), quoting LeMond v. State DOL, 143 Wn. App. 797, 805, 180 P.3d 829 (2008) and Standlee v. Smith, 83 Wn. 2d 405, 408, 518 P.2d 721 (1974).

negligence created the precise (and foreseeable) risk of harm that occurred in the client's subsequent litigation? And how is justice served by allowing the negligent attorney to prevent his/her client from re-litigating a foreseeable risk⁹ of harm that the attorney's negligence created and thus escape liability for the attorney's error?

In that context, Washington long-ago rejected the "'independent business judgment rule'. . . [because it] discourages settlement, favors those who can afford lengthy litigation, and serves as a potential shield from liability for those who would otherwise be found liable for a legal wrong." Indeed, the express public policy of Washington strongly encourages settlement. *E.g., City of Seattle v. Blume, supra,* 134 Wn.2d at 259. Here, in contrast, the Division I opinion strongly discourages settlement. Butler and the lower court thus diverge on whether a client victimized by an attorney's malpractice may *ever* settle the underlying

⁹ The "foreseeable risk" in this case is that a court or arbitrator might conclude that the *White* Release approved by Thomsen also released Butler's claims against Zvirzdys, Sutherland and ImageSource. That precise harm occurred in *Butler v. ImageSource*.

¹⁰ City of Seattle v. Blume, 134 Wn.2d 243, 259-260, 947 P.2d 223 (1997); accord, Versuslaw, Inc. v. Stoel Rives, LLP, 127 Wn. App. 309, 327, 111 P.3d 866 (2005) (settlement of underlying matter did not break chain of causation); Flint v. Hart, 82 Wn. App. 209, 220-221, 917 P.2d 590 (1996)("[P]laintiff has an obligation to mitigate damages. The reasonableness of his or her conduct. . . is a question for the jury"); Mastro v. Kumakichi Corp., 90 Wn. App. 157, 160, 951 P.2d 817, 819 (Div. I 1998)(settlement of underlying matter did not break chain of causation); 3 Mallen, Legal Malpractice §22:72, pp. 332 (2019 ed.)("Usually, the attorney whose negligence is a proximate cause of the client's injury cannot complain that the client made a good faith compromise of the claim for less than full value rather than pursue the matter to judgment").

litigation or risk created by the attorney's malpractice without interrupting the chain of causation through application of collateral estoppel, regardless of the reasonableness of the client's settlement decision based on long-recognized factors such as the recommendations of the client's replacement counsel, or the expense or likelihood of success, or other risks (e.g., exposure to an attorney fee award) associated with continued litigation in the underlying matter.

These are not imaginary or hypothetical problems; victims of attorney malpractice in Washington must *routinely* decide whether to continue to pursue the underlying litigation in performance of the duty to mitigate, how far to litigate the underlying matter (*i.e.*, Rule 60 motion, reconsideration, discretionary review, appeal, or voluntary dismissal), ¹¹ or whether to settle the underlying claim if feasible. Other real-life cases further illustrate the dilemma Butler faced when he had to decide whether to continue to litigate, abandon or settle *Butler v. ImageSource*:

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