# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/31/2019 2:43 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97101-3

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### TERENCE BUTLER,

Petitioner,

v.

CALFO HARRIGAN LEYH & EAKES, LLP, a Washington Professional Limited Liability Partnership, f/k/a DANIELSON HARRIGAN LEYH & TOLLEFSON, LLP, et al.,

Respondents.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BYRNES KELLER CROMWELL LLP Bradley S. Keller, WSBA #10665 Keith D. Petrak, WSBA #19159 1000 Second Avenue, 38th Floor Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 622-2000 Attorneys for Respondents

# **

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

Summary: Collateral Estoppel. The Court of Appeals properly applied collateral estoppel in holding that Butler is estopped from relitigating two issues decided adversely to him in *Butler*. The Court of Appeal's decision is entirely in line with all Washington precedent. While Butler claims that the Court of Appeals' straight-forward application of governing collateral estoppel authority conflicts with unrelated legal malpractice jurisprudence, in substance he just disagrees with its conclusion. He argues that a "manifest injustice" would occur if collateral estoppel were to be applied "to prevent the client from re-litigating an issue

that had been decided 'based on attorney misfeasance or nonfeasance.'"

Pet. at 12; *see also id.* at 3-4. But therein is the fallacy of his argument: the two issues to which collateral estoppel was applied (*Butler*'s standing and wages rulings) are unrelated to what Butler claims was Calfo's negligence (the review of the *White* agreement's release). There is no injustice in applying collateral estoppel, or any basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Summary: Liability as a Matter of Law. Whether or not the standard of care has been breached in a legal malpractice case is generally a subject for expert testimony. *Walker v. Bangs*, 92 Wn.2d 854, 857-58, 601 P.2d 1279 (1979); *Slack v. Luke*, 192 Wn. App. 909, 916-17, 370 P.3d 49 (2016)). Thus, competing expert opinions create an issue of fact that precludes summary judgment. *Arden v. Forsburg & Umlauf, P.S.*, 189 Wn.2d 315, 328-29, 402 P.3d 245 (2017). Given conflicting opinions regarding whether Calfo breached the standard of care, the Court of Appeals properly concluded that it was error to grant summary judgment on liability.

Once again, Butler does not suggest that the Court of Appeals deviated from the general rules applicable to legal malpractice claims, but rather disputes its conclusion. He argues that this case is one of the rare ones where an attorney's alleged negligence is within the common knowledge of lay persons. He is wrong (and the Court of Appeals was

right) for two reasons. First, Butler defines the issue too narrowly. Whether an attorney met the standard of care depends on *all* relevant circumstances. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that "joint representation in a complex business litigation matter... can hardly be considered within the common knowledge of laypersons." App'x 15.<sup>5</sup> Thus, "[e]xpert opinion evidence on these complex legal circumstances is both appropriate and necessary." *Id.* Second, Butler's liability theory assumes that the *Butler* court correctly interpreted the *White* release. The Court of Appeals decided – rightly – that Calfo is not bound by that decision, and that the scope of the *White* release is a question of fact for the jury to decide in the "casewithin-a-case."

Under RAP 13.4(b), review shall only be accepted if the appellate decision conflicts with governing authority, raises a significant constitutional issue, or invokes an issue of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals' rulings do not qualify under any of these standards.

# A. <u>Applying Collateral Estoppel to the Standing and Wage Rulings</u> Does Not Conflict With Washington Precedent.

In reversing the trial court, the unanimous Court of Appeals decision applied well-established precedent governing the application of collateral estoppel. *See* App'x 5-10. Collateral estoppel applies when four

13

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The issue becomes even more complicated given Calfo's belief that Butler was consulting with separate counsel on personal issues, who Butler could have but (unbeknownst to Calfo) elected not to have review the settlement agreement.

elements are met: (1) identical issues; (2) a final judgment on the merits; (3) the party against whom the plea is asserted must have been a party to or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication; and (4) its application does not work an injustice on the party against whom the doctrine is to be applied. App'x 6 (citing *Malland v. Dep't of Ret. Sys.*, 103 Wn.2d 484, 489, 694 P.2d 16 (1985)). The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the *Butler* summary judgment decisions regarding standing and the wage claims were sufficiently final to invoke the doctrine. Washington courts have repeatedly held that a party's subsequent decision to settle does not defeat the application of collateral estoppel to an earlier decisive judgment. *See* App'x 7 (citing *Nielson v. Spanaway Gen. Med. Clinic, Inc.*, 135 Wn.2d 255, 263-64, 956 P.2d 312 (1998) & *In re Dependency of H.S.*, 188 Wn. App. 654, 660-61, 356 P.3d 202 (2015)).

The lower court also concluded that applying collateral estoppel to <u>Butler</u>'s determination of the standing and wage issues would not cause an injustice to Butler. App'x 7-11. Butler does not argue that the Court of Appeals applied the wrong test, rather his petition merely disagrees with the outcome. None of Butler's arguments are persuasive.

First, Butler argues that a manifest injustice will result because legal malpractice plaintiffs must be permitted to make reasonable settlement decisions to resolve the risks of harm created by the alleged

malpractice. Pet. at 3-4, 12. Thus, he claims that the decision conflicts with *Barr v. Day*, 124 Wn.2d 318, 879 P.2d 912 (1994), which held that collateral estoppel does not prevent a client from re-litigating an issue that was decided "based on attorney misfeasance or nonfeasance." Pet. at 12. But the standing and wage issues that Calfo sought to bar Butler from relitigating were separate and distinct from Calfo's alleged negligence regarding the *White* release. Put simply, nothing Calfo did reviewing the *White* release created a risk of judicial error by the *Butler* court regarding either the standing or the wage issue. The decision below highlighted this fundamental flaw in Butler's petition:

If Butler had lost on his breach of fiduciary duty and statute wage claims because of the <u>White</u> Release, he could bring a claim against [Calfo] to recover what he would otherwise have recovered for such claims in the <u>Butler</u> Litigation. However, when as occurred here, Butler's breach of fiduciary duty and statutory wage claims failed for reasons other than the <u>White</u> Release, Butler cannot then seek to recover for those claims on the ground that [Calfo] committed malpractice when reviewing the language of the *White* Release.

App'x 8-9, n.3. When a party litigates and loses an issue unconnected to alleged attorney negligence, and then chooses to settle rather than appeal the adverse ruling, justice does not require a special exception to the collateral estoppel doctrine. Every litigant can – and should – weigh the import of substantive rulings made to date in a case in deciding whether to settle or to appeal. There is no injustice in this truth, and the Court of

Appeals' ruling does not inhibit a litigant's ability to engage in this analysis. Indeed, the "settlement" exception to the collateral estoppel doctrine that Butler is proposing not only conflicts with established law, but it would swallow the doctrine whole and virtually eliminate it.

Butler also argues that the trial court "implicitly" recognized that collateral estoppel is unjust because the law regarding the wage issue changed subsequent to the Butler decision, citing LaCoursiere v. Camwest Development, Inc., 181 Wn.2d 734, 339 P.3d 963 (2014). See Pet. at 9.6 But the trial court's oral ruling makes clear that this was *not* the basis for its ruling; it mistakenly held that whether collateral estoppel applied was a question of fact. In any event, LaCoursiere did not deviate from existing Wage Act jurisprudence. LaCoursiere recognized existing authority which held that unpaid discretionary bonuses, and bonuses paid but not for work performed, were not wages. It then held that "bonuses, once paid for work performed, are wages." 181 Wn.2d at 741-42 (emphasis added). Thus, it addressed only whether – and held – that employee bonuses are wages under the Act if "already paid for work performed." *Id.* at 743-44. What Butler sought was neither already paid or for work performed; he sued for unpaid "level up" payments to equalize him with what another shareholder

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Butler's petition does not cite or argue *LaCoursiere* in the argument section; rather only in the statement of the case explaining what was argued below. Out of an abundance of caution, Calfo treats it as an argument being made in favor of review.

received in payment of personal expenses.<sup>7</sup>

Moreover, perhaps more importantly and as the Court of Appeals noted, *LaCoursiere* was published only a few months after *Butler*'s summary judgment ruling *and almost a year before Butler settled that case*. Butler "had sufficient opportunity to bring the *LaCoursiere* decision to the attention of the trial court." App'x 10-11. And he knew, or should have known, about *LaCoursiere* when he chose to settle rather than appeal. So he had the opportunity to seek review of any ruling he believed to be erroneous. He cannot now use his decision to settle as a shield to block the application of collateral estoppel and obtain a second bite at the litigation apple on an issue unrelated to the alleged negligence in this case.

# B. The Court of Appeals Properly Concluded That Issues of Fact Precluded Summary Judgment on Liability.

Divergent Expert Opinions Create A Question of Fact on Liability:

Butler does not argue that the Court of Appeals failed to apply governing
case law regarding breach of the standard of care in legal malpractice
actions. Instead he argues that the Court of Appeals erred because it did

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See, e.g., Arzola v. Name Intelligence, Inc., 172 Wn. App. 51, 288 P.3d 1154 (2012), Amended on Denial of Reconsideration, (April 8, 2013) (payments to employees under stock right cancellation agreement were not "wages" as payments were not for employees' services to company).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Similarly, the *Donlin v. Murphy*, 174 Wn. App. 288, 300 P.3d 424 (2013) opinion about a shareholder's standing to pursue derivative claims after the company was dissolved was decided well before Butler brought his motion in *Butler*; his attorney simply failed to cite it – likely because the case is inapplicable to the facts of *Butler* as argued below.

not conclude that the alleged breach was so blatantly obvious as to be within the common knowledge of laypersons. But he does not identify one Washington case that conflicts with the Court of Appeal's ruling reversing the trial court's liability summary judgment ruling. The most he can muster is that the decision below "is inconsistent" with *Walker v. Bangs*, 92 Wn.2d 854, 601 P.2d 1279 (1979). Pet. at. 5. Not only is the Court of Appeals' ruling consistent with *Walker*, it expressly relies on that case in framing the analysis. *See* App'x 12. What Butler disagrees with – once again – is not the law the court applied, but the result. That does not meet the standard for review under RAP 13.4(b).

Butler and the Court of Appeals agree on the standard of care for a Washington attorney. *Compare* Pet. at 17 (citing *Hizey v. Carpenter*, 119 Wn.2d 251, 261, 830 P.2d 646 (1992)) with App'x 11 (citing *Geer v. Tonnon*, 137 Wn. App. 838, 850-51, 155 P.3d 163 (2007) (*quoting Hizey*, 119 Wn.2d at 261)). They also agree that *Walker* holds that law is a "highly technical field beyond the knowledge of the ordinary person" and thus ordinarily requires expert testimony to determine whether a breach of the duty of care occurred, unless the breach is so obvious it is within the common knowledge of laypersons. *Compare* App'x 12 with Pet. at 18. It is Butler, not the Court of Appeals, who takes an overly simplistic and erroneous position in arguing that this is the rare case that presents such a

blatant breach of the standard of care that expert testimony is unwarranted.

To prove a breach as a matter of law, Butler needed to proffer undisputed expert testimony that no reasonable Washington attorney acting under similar circumstances would have acted as Calfo did. Clarke Cnty. Fire Dist. No. 5. v. Bullivant Houser Bailey PC, 180 Wn. App. 689, 701, 324 P.3d 743 (2014). What a reasonable attorney would do depends on the circumstances: the scope of the engagement, what the lawyer became (or should have become) aware of during the engagement, etc. In the eyes of the Court of Appeals, Butler's motion failed in part because his expert did not address the surrounding circumstances, while Calfo's exert did. Calfo proffered Thomsen's detailed testimony regarding the circumstances as he knew them and why he acted as he did – facts and inferences which must be accepted and drawn in Calfo's favor in this context. CP 1767-1931. Based on that testimony, Calfo's expert opined that given: (i) what Mr. Thomsen was told by Butler, Sutherland, and Zvirzdys, (ii) the limited scope of Calfo's engagement (excluding disputes amongst his clients), and (iii) that to Calfo's knowledge Butler was represented by personal counsel throughout, Calfo did not breach the standard of care in reviewing the release. CP 1942-44. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that, "[t]he circumstances herein, a joint representation in a complex business litigation matter, can hardly be

considered within the common knowledge of laypersons. Expert opinion evidence on these complex legal circumstances is both appropriate and necessary." App'x 15 (citing *Geer*, 137 Wn. App. at 851-52). Disputes between experts must be resolved by a jury.

Issues About the Scope of the Release Create Issues on Liability. The foundational premise of Butler's liability theory is that the <u>White</u> release improperly encompassed claims between the <u>White</u> co-defendants. If the release was *not* so broad, then there was no breach of the standard of care. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that because Calfo was not a party to <u>Butler</u>, it is not collaterally estopped from litigating the release's scope. App'x 14, n.11. It reviewed the evidence, and concluded that the scope of the <u>White</u> release was a disputed fact that the jury in the "case within the case" decides. As the scope of the <u>White</u> release is a disputed factual issue, granting summary judgment on liability was reversible error.

#### VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Court of Appeals' application of collateral estoppel is firmly grounded in Washington law and consistent with this Court's precedent.

So are its rulings that competing expert opinions on the standard of care and conflicting evidence regarding the *White* release's scope create issues of fact on liability. Butler has failed to satisfy any grounds for review.

### DATED this 31st day of May, 2019.

#### BYRNES KELLER CROMWELL LLP

# By /s/ Keith D. Petrak

Bradley S. Keller, WSBA #10665 Keith D. Petrak, WSBA #19159 1000 Second Avenue, 38th Floor Seattle, WA 98104 Telephone: (206) 622-2000

bkeller@byrneskeller.com kpetrak@byrneskeller.com Attorneys for Respondents